
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 21, 2012 6:00 P.M. 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Blitch 
  

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 07-07-2012 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a Motion to approve 2nd reading of Ordinance 2012-05: An 

Ordinance amending the Code of Statesboro Chapter Two in Article One establishing 
division IV, open records, to comply with O.C.G.A. “The Georgia Open Records 
Law” as amended in the 2012 session of the Georgia General Assembly 

C) Notification of an alcohol license application: 
                  Licensee:  Janetta  Alabi-Isama 
                  DBA:  South and Vine Public House 
                  Location:  19 South Main Street 
                 Type of Alcohol License:  Restaurant 
                 Type of Business:  Beer, Wine, Liquor by the Drink-Pouring Sales 

D) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event Permits 
a)  Averitt Center for the Arts-Gallery Reception “Warhol Prints” 
b) GSU Botanical Garden-Beer Tasting Concert Fundraiser 

E) Consideration of a Motion to approve “Vehicle for Hire” Driver Applications 
                  a) D W Yellow Cab – Timothy F. McFarland 
                  b) D W Yellow Cab- Justin Phillips 

F) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of three trucks in the Public 
Works divisions: 
a) 1998 Volvo/Heil garbage truck (Sanitation Division) 
b) 2003 Autocar/Wayne garbage truck (Sanitation Division) 
c) 2001 Dodge Ram pickup (Street Division) 

G)  Consideration of a Motion to change the Administrative Assistant position for the 
       Police Department from a part time position to a full time position as it was budgeted 
       for full time in the 2013 budget 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve 1st reading of Ordinance 2012-06: An Ordinance 
Amending Certain Sections of Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
(Alcoholic Beverages) 

 
 

 



 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to Enter into an Agreement between the City of Statesboro and 
the Georgia Department of Transportation for an Off-System Safety Enhancement Project 
including roadway striping, signage and pavement markings.  GDOT to provide funding 
up to $72,000 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 

 
a. APPLICATION # RZ 12-06-10:  James M. Hood requests a zoning map 

amendment from R-20 (Single-Family Residential) District to R-4 (High Density 
Residential) District for property located at 444 South College Street (Tax parcel 
# S21000011001). 

 
b. APPLICATION # RZ 12-07-01:  Josh Whitfield requests a zoning map 

amendment from O (Office) District to CR (Commercial Retail) District for 
property located at 56 Zetterower Avenue (Tax Parcel # S38000056000). 

 
c. APPLICATION # RZ 12-07-02:  Copper Beech Town Home Communities, 

LLP, requests a zoning map amendment from CR (Commercial Retail) District to 
R-4 (High Density Residential) District for property located on Statesboro Place 
Circle. 

 
8. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2012-19: A Resolution Adopting the 

Grant Policy for the City of Statesboro. 
 
9. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2012-20: A Resolution to adopt the 

first amendment to the Fiscal Year 2013 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated 
 

10. Other Business from City Council 
 

11. Public Comments / Presentations (General) 
A) Shannon Mixon request to speak to Council concerning the 911 change of address for 
some locations on North Side Drive East and West  
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2010) 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
  CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

AUGUST 07, 2012 

 
 
 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on August 7th  , 2012 at 9:00 am in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Tommy Blitch, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City 
Manager Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer 
Robert Cheshire and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody.   
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Proclamation recognizing August as “Brain Injury Awareness Month” 
B) Chief Tim Grams recognition of fire fighters for performance during a structure 
fire 
C) Reginald Mosley to address Council concerning Ethics 
D) Cheryl LaBon representing the NAACP request to speak to Council concerning a  
      reported case 

 
Mayor Joe Brannen read the “Brain Injury Awareness” Proclamation and presented it to Mr. 
Murkinson, whose son had suffered a brain injury at age 7. 
 
Chief Tim Grams recognized fire fighters with awards for their performance during a local fire. 
The Unit Citation Medal was given to: Battalion Chief Jason Baker, Captain Chris Whitehead, 
Captain Steven Morris, Firefighter Brad Bouchillon, Firefighter Tim Alderman, Firefighter 
Jamie Strosnider, Firefighter Andrew Farrar, Firefighter Lamar Matthews, Firefighter Jon 
Patterson, Firefighter Tyler Thompson, Firefighter Ben Adams, Firefighter/Police Officer Justin 
Gawthrop 
The Medal of Valor was given to: Captain Chris Whitehead, Firefighter Lamar Matthews, 
Firefighter Andrew Farrar 
 
Reginald Mosley spoke briefly to Council stating  employees should not be intimidated by others 
when trying to do the right thing. He also thanked Council for their help in working thru some of 
his concerns. 

Cheryl LaBon was not present to speak with Council. 

 Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 07-17-2012 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a Motion to call a Public Hearing for August 30, 2012 at 4:00 

p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall on the proposed 2012 Calendar Year 
Ad Valorem (Property) Tax Millage Rate of 6.358 for the City of Statesboro. 

C)  Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2012-18: A Resolution 
Approving 
      the Uncollectable Personal Property Tax Bill List for 2010 in the total amount of  
      $1,644.22 
D) Consideration of a motion to approve an increase in personnel in the Solid Waste 
     Collection Fund to hire two (2) additional collection drivers 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve the 
consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor 
of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 

Consideration of a Motion to approve a temporary alcohol license for Van Gogh’s Pizza 
Brewery not to exceed 90 days contingent on the completion of construction of the business 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Blitch to approve a temporary 
alcohol license for Van Gogh’s Pizza Brewery not to exceed 90 days contingent on the 
completion of construction of the business. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs and Lewis voted in 
favor of the motion. Councilman Chance voted against the motion. The motion carried by a 4-1 
vote. 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve 1st reading of Ordinance 2012-
05: An Ordinance amending the Code of Statesboro Chapter Two in Article One 
establishing division IV, open records, to comply with O.C.G.A. “The Georgia Open 
Records Law” as amended in the 2012 session of the Georgia General Assembly 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve 1st reading 
of Ordinance 2012-05: An Ordinance amending the Code of Statesboro Chapter Two in Article 
One establishing division IV, open records, to comply with O.C.G.A. “The Georgia Open 
Records Law” as amended in the 2012 session of the Georgia General Assembly. Councilman 
Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase contract for a cab and chassis with utility 
body truck to Wade Ford at a bid price of $31,775.00 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award the purchase 
contract for a cab and chassis with utility body truck to Wade Ford at a bid price of $31,775.00. 
Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 

 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase contract for construction of a steel 
building to Smith Steel Structures at a bid price of $57,295.00 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to award the   
contract for construction of a steel building to Smith Steel Structures at a bid price of 
$57,295.00. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of contract for a tractor to Blanchard 
Equipment at a bid price of $49,850.00 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro tem Will Britt to award the contract 
for a tractor to Blanchard Equipment at a bid price of $49,850.00. Councilman Britt, Blitch, 
Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the award of an Engineering Service contract for the 
upgrade and design of a reclaimed water system 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the award of an 
engineering service contract to EMC Engineering in the amount of $73,400.00. Councilman 
Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of two (2) new knuckleboom trash loader 
trucks to Freightliner of Savannah in the amount of $124,097.00 each via a bid price 
extension from a previous bid award by City Council on September 20, 2011, as they 
offered the lowest responsive bid and have satisfactorily delivered the awarded product. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to award the purchase 
of two (2) new knuckleboom trash loader trucks to Freightliner of Savannah in the amount of 
$124,097.00 each via a bid price extension from a previous bid award by City Council on 
September 20, 2011, as they offered the lowest responsive bid and have satisfactorily delivered 
the awarded product. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve a policy within the Fleet Maintenance Division to 
provide a step increase for achievement of emergency vehicle technician (EVT) level 
certification for the Mechanic III position. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve a policy 
within the Fleet Maintenance Division to provide a step increase for achievement of emergency 
vehicle technician (EVT) level certification for the Mechanic III position. Councilman Britt, 
Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 

 



 
 

Consideration of Motion to award contract to Jerry D. Rushing Construction Co., Inc. in 
the amount of $99,500.00 to construct a sidewalk on South Main Street between Rucker 
Lane and existing sidewalk near Jones Lane Park.  The South Main Street Sidewalk 
Project is to be funded by 2007 SPLOST. 
 
Councilman Blitch made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award contract to Jerry D. 
Rushing Construction Co., Inc. in the amount of $99,500.00 to construct a sidewalk on South 
Main Street between Rucker Lane and existing sidewalk near Jones Lane Park.  The South Main 
Street Sidewalk Project is to be funded by 2007 SPLOST. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Sole Sourcing with HD Supply for the purchase 
of Sensus Water Meters for Fiscal Year of 2013 and approval to place an order for meters 
in the amount of $51, 300.00 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the Sole 
Sourcing with HD Supply for the purchase of Sensus Water Meters for Fiscal Year of 2013 and 
approval to place an order for meters in the amount of $51, 300.00. Councilman Britt, Blitch, 
Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt led a discussion with City Manager Frank Parker as to why the 2013 
budgets for the Arts Council and DSDA were cut. After much discussion Mayor Pro Tem Will 
Britt asked City Manager Frank Parker to reverse the changes and  give the 1% raise to them and 
to also include them in the 2% bonus if approved by Council in December. Council asked that 
City Manager Frank Parker bring a motion back to Council at the next meeting to reverse the 
changes and also explain what accounts would be affected by the changes.  
  
City Manager Frank Parker led a discussion of the possibility of the Hotel-Motel Tax going from 
5% to 6% if the City decided to take it to our Legislators. 
 
Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant asked Council to approve the addition of a clerk position 
in the Clerk’s Department. City Clerk Sue Starling stated the position has always been there but 
has not been filled for several years. She also stated the position needed to be filled to handle the 
City’s growth. Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to 
approve the motion to fill the customer service clerk vacancy. Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant gave an update on the Health Clinic. He stated it was 
going well and the City has already seen a savings of $50,000.00 as of July. He also stated there 
would be a campaign for all dependents to visit the clinic at no charge. 
 
Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant updated everyone on the 5K run that would be scheduled 
for Friday, December 7th in connection with First Friday Downtown. 
 



 
 

Councilman Chance asked the Public Safety Department to monitor and  give warnings for 
several weeks for those who are parking in fire lanes or other off limit parking areas. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss personnel matters in 
accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2010) 
 
Mayor Brannen cancelled the Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
  
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to adjourn. 
Councilman Britt, Blitch, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned sat 10:35 am.  
 



OPEN RECORDS ORDINANCE 
ORDINANCE 2012-05 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA, IN CHAPTER 
TWO (ADMINISTRATION) IN ARTICLE ONE BY ESTABLISHING DIVISION IV, OPEN 
RECORDS, TO COMPLY WITH O.C.G.A. §50-18-70,   ET   SEQ.,  "THE  GEORGIA   OPEN 
RECORDS  LAW", AS AMENDED  IN THE 2012 SESSION  OF  THE GEORGIA 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY; DESIGNATING AN "OPEN RECORDS OFFICER" AND 
"ASSISTANT OPEN RECORDS OFFICER(S)"  FOR   SAID  CITY;  DEFINING THE   
DUTIES THEREOF;  PROVIDING  FOR  PUBLIC  RECORD REQUESTS TO BE SERVED 
UPON THE OPEN RECORDS OFFICER OR, IN THE OFFICER'S ABSENCE OR 
UNAVAILABILITY, UPON AN ASSISTANT OPEN  RECORDS  OFFICER;  PROVIDING 
FOR  THE MANNER  OF SERVING  PUBLIC  RECORDS REQUESTS ON THE OPEN 
RECORDS OFFICER;  PROVIDING FOR NOTICE OF THE CITY'S OPEN RECORDS 
PROCEDURES; PROVIDING REASONABLE CHARGES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH 
PUBLIC RECORDS  REQUESTS;  TO REPEAL CONFLICTING CODE PROVISIONS,  
ORDINANCES, OR PORTIONS THEREOF, IN CONFLICT WITH THE FOREGOING; TO 
RESTATE THE CODE OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA, AS MODIFIED 
HEREINTO ESTABLISH AN  EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
 
WHEREAS, Georgia's Open Records Law, O.C.G.A. §50-18-70, et seq., was amended in the 
2012 Session of the General Assembly to enact new procedures for local governments (defined 
therein as "agencies") to comply with said law and to provide greater transparency in making 
public records available to the public for inspection and copying, which instills greater public 
trust in government; 
 
 
WHEREAS, under the amended law, agencies may designate one or more "Open Records 
Officers" for the purpose of accepting service of written requests in order to assure timely 
response if made to the proper officer, who has been trained in the law and procedures for public 
records compliance; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, a Georgia municipal corporation, is an "agency" as defined 
at O.C.G.A. §50-18-70; and 
 
WHEREAS, this City Council adopts as City public policy the statement of the  General 
Assembly found at O.C.G.A §50-18-70 (a); 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA, AND IT IS ESTABLISHED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
 
 
 



SECTION ONE 
 
Article One of Chapter Two of the Municipal Code of the City of the City of Statesboro is 
amended by adding a new Division Four, which shall be referred to as “Open Records 
Ordinance”, and shall include the following language: 
 
Division 4.  Open Records Ordinance 
  
Sec. 2-12.   Short Title. 
 
This Article shall be known as the "Open Records Ordinance." 
 
Sec. 2-12-1. Open Records Officer. 
 
There is hereby created the office of Open Records Officer.   The City Clerk is hereby designated 
as the City's Open Records Officer; the Open Records Officer may designate, in writing, 
Assistant Open Records Officer(s) as required to perform the duties of his or her office. Before 
undertaking the duties of the office, the Open Records Officer and Assistant Open Records 
Officers shall take an oath, in writing, to diligently perform such duties. Compensation for the 
Open Records Officer and his or her Assistant Open Records Officers shall be initially 
recommended by the City Manager and approved by the City Council and scheduled on the 
City's Pay Classification Plan, as from time to time amended. The Open Records Officer shall 
serve at the pleasure of the Mayor and City Council. 
 
Sec. 2-12-2.  Duties. 
 
It shall be the duty of the Open Records Officer and his or her duly designated Assistant Open 
Records Officer(s) to accept written requests to inspect and copy public records, pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. §50-18-70, et seq., and to produce to the requester all records responsive to a request 
within a reasonable amount of time not to exceed three (3)  business  days of receipt of a request, 
unless the time for response is extended in accordance with law. No request shall be deemed 
filed until served upon the Open Records Officer, either by hand delivery to the Officer at City 
Hall; 50 East Main Street, Statesboro, Georgia, 30458; by certified United States mail to Open 
Records Officer, P.O. Box 348, Statesboro, Georgia 30459, return receipt requested; by statutory 
overnight delivery to 50 East Main Street, Statesboro, Georgia, 30458; by email to 
openrecordsofficer@statesboroga.gov, or by facsimile transmission to 912-764-4691.  Oral 
requests and requests, whether oral or in writing, served upon any other officer or employee of 
the City shall not be deemed filed, until the requester has filed his or her request, in writing, with 
the Open Records Officer.   In  the  absence  or  unavailability  of  the  Open  Records  Officer an 
Assistant  Open Records Officer shall perform the duties of the Open Records Officer. The 
absence or unavailability of a designated Open Records Officer shall not delay the City's 
response to a properly served request. 
 
 
 
 



Sec. 2-12-3. Request Response. 
 
Upon receipt of a request it shall be the duty of the Open Records Officer to promptly ascertain 
the availability of all public records responsive to the request and to produce to the requester 
those records that can be located and produced within a reasonable time, not to exceed three (3) 
business days of receipt of a request. For purposes of computing the time within which a 
response must be made, the Open Records Officer shall not count the business day on which a 
request is received, nor any intervening Saturday, Sunday, or designated holiday on which City 
offices are closed for general business.  Upon intake of a request, the Open Records Officer shall 
stamp the request with the date and time of receipt, and initial the request. In any instance  where  
records  are unavailable  within  three (3) business  days  of the request, it shall be the duty of the 
Open Records Officer to provide the requester with a written description of such  records  and  a 
timeline  for when  the  records  will be available  for  inspection  or  copying  and to  provide  
the responsive  records  to the requester as soon thereafter as practicable. Such response shall 
also contain a good faith estimate of the cost to the requester for the search, retrieval, redaction, 
and production and copying of records. 
 
A.  It is the intent that the Open Records Officer be accessible within City Hall during the normal 
hours of general operation of the City's administrative staff, i.e. 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday 
through Friday, except on recognized holidays and those days when City Hall is closed. The 
Open Records Officer shall coordinate his or her work schedule with the Assistant Open Records 
Officers to assure coverage within City Hall during normal hours at all times when the Open 
Records Officer is scheduled to be absent or unavailable for extended periods of time.  Backup 
procedures will be implemented by the City Clerk to assure such coverage by Assistant Open 
Records Officers during the Open Records Officer's unplanned absence or unavailability. 
 
B.  Notice of the designation of Open Records Officers shall be posted on the official bulletin 
board at City Hall, in the legal organ of Bulloch County, and on the City's website.  In addition, 
City officers, department managers, and administrative staff shall follow the direction of the 
Open Records Officer on how to assist and direct persons desiring to request inspection and 
copying of public records. 
 
C.   To further assist persons desiring to inspect records, a request form will be available at City 
Hall and on the City's website. 
 
D.   The Open Records Officer shall confer with every officer or department manager of the 
City, as necessary, to ascertain the existence of public records responsive to a request (including 
electronically-stored information), and it shall be the duty of every City officer and department 
manager to confer with and provide records, or true and correct copies of the originals thereof, to 
the Open Records Officer promptly, time being of the essence. Upon receipt of a public record 
responsive to a request, the Open Records Officer shall determine, in consultation with the City 
Attorney, if the record is exempt from disclosure by order of a court of this state or by law; if the 
record is exempt from disclosure, the written response by the Open Records Officer shall set 
forth the specific legal authority under which withholding of inspection of the record is claimed. 
The Open Records Officer shall maintain a log or other documentation of his or her due 
diligence to comply with a proper request 



Sec. 2-12-4. Fees. 
 
The Open Records Officer shall further have the duty to collect from a requester a reasonable 
charge for the search, retrieval, redaction, and production/copying of records, utilizing the most 
economical means available to identify and produce non- excluded records. The charge for the 
search, retrieval, or redaction of records shall not exceed the prorated hourly salary of the lowest 
paid full-time employee who, in the reasonable discretion of the Open Records Officer, has the 
necessary skill and training to perform the request; provided, however, no charge shall be made 
for the first quarter hour. In addition thereto, where certified copies of specific records are 
sought, the fees for certified copies prescribed by law shall apply; otherwise, a fee for the 
copying of records shall not exceed 10¢ per page for letter or legal size documents or, in the case 
of other documents and electronic records, the actual cost of reproducing the document or media 
on which the records or media are produced. It shall be the right of the requester, at the time of 
inspection, to make photographic copies or other electronic reproductions of records, at his or her 
own expense, using suitable portable devices brought to the place of inspection. Whenever any 
person has requested to inspect and copy public records and received a written response 
estimating the cost of the search, retrieval, redaction, and production/copying-of the records 
responsive to the request, and the City has actually incurred such costs but the requester fails to 
inspect or accept copies of the records, the Open Records Officer shall be authorized to collect 
such charges in any manner authorized by law.                                 
 
In any instance in which the Open Records Officer has estimated costs in excess of $25.00 for 
responding to a request, the Open Records Officer may defer the search, retrieval, redaction, and 
production/copying of the records until the requester has stated, in writing, his or her willingness 
to pay an amount equal to the estimate of costs. In any instance in which the estimated costs 
exceed $500.00, the Open Records Officer shall insist, in writing, upon prepayment of the 
estimated costs prior to beginning search, retrieval, redaction, production or copying of the 
records. In any instance in which a requester has outstanding costs owing to the City for a 
previous records request, the Open Records Officer shall insist upon prepayment of the 
outstanding costs and estimated costs prior to beginning search and retrieval. 
 
Sec. 2-12-5. Litigation. 
 
Requests by civil litigants, or their counsel of record, in any ongoing civil action or 
administrative proceeding shall be made in writing and shall include the style of the action or 
proceeding, the names and addresses of all parties and, if a party is represented by counsel, the 
name, address, and telephone number of the party's attorney; a copy of the request shall be 
served by the requester upon all parties or their counsel of record in the action or proceeding 
contemporaneous to filing the written request with the Open Records Officer. The Open Records 
Officer shall make duplicate set(s) of records provided in response to the request available to all 
parties or their counsel for the cost of copies only, unless a party or its counsel elects not to 
receive the records and pay the copying charge. If the City is a party to the action or proceeding, 
a set of responses shall be provided to counsel for the City at no charge. 
 
 
 



Sec. 2-12-6. Training. 
 
The Open Records Officer and Assistant Open Records Officer(s) shall,  prior to assuming the 
duties of their office, undergo a course of training in public records management and specifically 
compliance with the Georgia Open Records Law, O.C.G.A. §50-18-70, et seq., as approved by 
the City Attorney. It shall be the responsibility of the City Clerk, at least annually, to conduct a 
workshop for City officers and department managers on the minimum requirements and 
procedures for public records management and open records disclosure, including the penalties 
or civil fines that may be imposed for violating Georgia's public records laws. 
 
Sec. 2-13 through 2-35.   Reserved. 
  
SECTION TWO 
 
All ordinances and Code sections, or parts thereof, in conflict with the foregoing are expressly 
repealed. 
 
SECTION THREE 
 
Should any provision of this ordinance be rendered invalid by any court of law, the remaining 
provisions shall continue in force and effect until amended or repealed by action of the municipal 
governing authority. 
 
SECTION FOUR 
 
Except as modified herein, The Code of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, is hereby reaffirmed and 
restated. The codifier is hereby granted editorial license to include this amendment in future 
supplements of said Code by appropriate section, division, article or chapter. 
 
SECTION FIVE 
 
This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City Council. 
  
SO ORDAINED, this ___day of ____________ 2012 in Statesboro, Georgia   
 
 
       __________________________________ 
First Reading:  August 7, 2012   Joe R. Brannen, in his capacity as Mayor of 
Second Reading: August 21, 2012   Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Sue Starling, in her capacity as City Clerk of 
       Statesboro, Georgia. 
 



CTTY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA

Ai'PLICATION FOR ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSB

qArE oF APPLIC n ron 7 
-'- ''n V

Nnw /\- 'RENEWAL '

. ':. '

TYPB OF BUSTNESS TO re OPERATEDJ
.J:.. 

. 
RETAILBEER &WINE PACKAGED ONLY SI'25O.OO

' RETAIL BEER &WINE BY'II{E DRINK Sl,2s0-00

ta BEER, wINE & LTQUoR BY DRINK $3'7s0'00

WHOLESALE LICENSE 51,000.00

APPLTCATION FEE_PACKAGED SALBS' $ I5O.OO

X AppLICATToN EE.n - PoURING sALES $ 1s0'00

< ,*a- frlabi-I-r*-^a -APPLICANTS FULL NAME J+*@

owNERS NAME Ta*e #a ' 
rhr' 'f, satna

DBA (BUSTNESs NAM a 5"r>fL- *l4r=,,1(i*
CHECK THE TYPEPF TITOHOL LICENSE YOU ARE APPLYING FOR:

n es-rn un a xr_iZ' s p 6R_TS R E STA U..F.+ N T--lP R I v 
1T 

E C L U B 

-P 

A c KA G E

BUSTNESS ADDRESS lo Sod-L Frleifl Sr- '

BUSINESSMAILINGADDRESS /?! / O COTT.OSE T"O'.

BU.TNESS TBLEPH.NE e &ovl 2u I q6/ "

APPLICANTS HOME ADDRESS

APPLICANTS HOME PIIONB

ARE YOU A CTTIZEN OFTrrE 
'NITED 

srATE t, 4"t
HAVE YOUREVER BEE}{ARRESTED FOR ANYTHING? YES /4o
IF YES, WHEN AND WHT

TS THE APPLICANT THEOWNER OF THE BUSIN 
""'' 

14"' NO

IF NO, WHAT IS YOURTITLE TN THE BUSTNESS?

HOW MANY PARTNERS.SHAREHOLDERS, ETC. ARE INVOLVED IN THE EUSINE,SS /

PLEASE LIST BELOW:

NO



CITY OF STATESBORO
P O BOX 348

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459
Telephon e (912) 764-5468 Fax (912) 764-4691

APPLICATION FOR A SPECIAI- EVBNT PERMIT
l, -, ^ ') ) ') ,- t'-)

DATE oF APPLICATIoN ,)Ul'lx L t , i t'i c

DATE OF EVENT

TIME OF EVENT

\\ ^1 ," ^ ^'\ ^., ., 1lr -lr'. L f
\ P ntf: m y r-r ,v{_1 tL| LA

YES / *,

APPLICANT,S ADDRESS 
':,> I ?:t/,i{ fi }TLryi SIYAL.I

(llt"t 111 .l-:,r

APPLICANT'S PHONE NUMBER "i l ''x - x i { -. ;{ i f {

I HAVE READ AND AGREE TO TIIE REQUIRtrMENTS OF THIS PERMIT.

LOCATION OF EVENT I)

PRODUCTS TO BE SERVED: BEER WINB LIQUOR

** ALCOHOL MUST BE PURCHASED THROUGH A LICENSED
WHOLESALE DISTRIBUTOR.

**THE APPLICANT IS I{OT ALLOWED TO TIAVE A CASH BAR AT THE
EVENT.

ARE FLYERS BEING DISTRIBUTED?
IF YES ATTACH TO APPLICATION.

NAME OF APPLICANT

rypn oF EVBNr (DETATLED DESRrprroNl Clrf .lJf n,t

),r,l rt \ni inln y hri i [:t lnfu 'J

SIGNATURE OF APP

OFFICE USE:
DATE OF COUNCIL MEETING

DATE APPROVED BY MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL



Warhol: Gala Reception

tlt',::.:t l)aatit,tittt lia.i::,, i jtit)i:.|',

Page I of2

l: r; {}t u{}t t" ffiMW MwW"eWW,: ,rutrlou 
f"t,t|,f.;/{uft.

sa.xe{ the collectors
Wes & Missy Cochran

alrtt a Warhol Printl

(tqnq heavy hors h'oeuvres
, / (/ and an open bar

t

ry'*'ptzw under the stars
to smoky saxophone blues

/t'r:"J.t.like Warhol
or one of his famous subjects

Tickets . ..$50 each I $75 per couple

Corporate lables..... $500

RSVP to Melinda Roell

m roell@averittcenterforthearts org

s|2-212-2187

iitii,
irig

ffi
m$

l$r 'fi'

http://www.averittcenterforthearls.org/index.php?option:com-content&view:arlicle&id:... 811412012



88/8L/2AL2 86234

'-.:

, trdE0) 09r ?3
n

9L287LL777 GA 50 BOT GARDEN PAGE 82/83
t

P.001 /001

CITY OF STATBSBOBO
P 0 Box 348

sTAliESBoRo, GEoRGIA L01le
TElephone (912) 164-si6lI'ax (9lz) ?64*4691

APPLICATION FOR A SPECIAT $\IENT PABIVIIT

DATE oF APPLr"o"o* - AOSu g;t-'"T ,!?gV+'L'Kt'a'Ol-l- ',-
DATE Otr EVPNT

TTS4E OT EVENT

LOCATION OF EVENT

TYPE OF EVANT (DETAIIED DESRIPTIOT{)

NAME OF APPLICANT

i+Cr-

qtfgu, /4Ln{la^-

APPLICANT'S ADITRE'?

APPLICAI.{T,S PHOND NUTVISEI/. 3 I h -,

,'* ny, rn ANrr acRs,E,I:o THE REQUIREMENTS or rllls PERMIT'
I I{A\M READ AI\D

illcurunp

1-

** ALco oL Musr BE PURcHAsED TITRouGII A LrctNsED

wuotnsAtr DI srBIBuroR'

; App',rcAlrr rs NlAI,townD To HAVE A ;clslr 
BAR Ar rHE

EvENr. /'
ARE FLLERelqry-gJIqrRtBUrEDr ilvns *No

ffi*,-6n*i**-LIQuoR

ilild ffiiur ro APPLIcATIoN'

;o4sq

3I[f 3 l8tdu N cr L M E rrr N c-
DATE APPROVED EY M^YOR AND CITY COUNCIL



A8/AI/2AI2 8A:34 9.287r1.777 GA SO BOT GARDEN PAGE Z3/83

a gEglSpJ+, 
I ffiTdF"i #l H::lr 

GAPDEN

r ;r SOUlHbl{N IHr'dtr;ryifi.*
'1J, U N IVE RS ITY I iupirc6,p"s€orsroso'rhern,edu/eqrden/

August 1,2012

City of Statesboro
50 East Main Street
PO Box 348
Statesboro, GA 30459

To Whom lt May Concern:

Georgia Southern Botanical Garden will be holding their annual fund raising event

Rhytlim and Brews Friday, September 28 from O:CO-10 PM. Tickets will be sold to the

general public. Beer andwine will be served at this event and is included in the price of

the ticket, as is food.

A (INII OF IFIE (INIVEI?sIN 5}SIEM OF FEORC..IA . AFFIRMATI\re ACIION/E6UAL OFPORiUNIIY INSTIIIJIION



CITY OF STATESBORO'POBOX348
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459

Q12) 764_s468
FAX (9r2) 764_4697

APPLICATION FOR VEIIICLE FOR IIIRE PERMIT - DRTVER

NAME oF BUSTNE ss ye l[ou: C o L
owNER oFBUSrNess toi\ g id Fvcncois
BUSINEss ADDREss \<frrr-
cIrY, srArE a.np Slolesh.u G fr,
BUSINESS TELEPHONE

NAME OF DRTVER

HOME ADDRESS

CITY, STATE &.ZD

HOME TELEPHONE

ALIASES

AGE OF DR|VER

FTAVE YOU EVER BEEN ARRESTED? YES

SIGNATTIRE

DATE



Statesboro Police Department
25 West Grady Street

Statesboro, Georgia 30458

Phone: (912)764-991'1, / Fax: (912) 489-5050

Scott P. Brunson
Police Maior

Wendell Turner
Public Safety Director

August 2,2OL2

Sue Starling, City Clerk
City of Statesboro

Via Hand-Deliuery

REF: Licensing

BUSINESS: D WYellowCab, r GreenwoodAve., Statesboro, GA
APPLICANT: Timothy F- McFarland

The response received from the fingerprints submitted shows the following record on
file in the state for Mr. MeFarland:

rt/t:-/t985 DUI
o6 / tt/ rg87 Purchase/Pmsession/Control (Drug Unknown)
to/24/tg97 Contempt ofState Court for Fingerprintable Charge - Misdemeanor

Deposit Acount/ Bad Checks
tz/zolt999 DUI

(Federal records are not s.rched for this type of license.)

lly submitted,

Wendell B. Turner
Public Safety Director



CITY OF STATESBORO'POBOX348
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459

Qrz) 764_s468
FAX (9r2)764-46sr

APPLICATION FOR VEHICLE F'OR HIRE PERMIT - DRTVER

DATE

NAME oF BUSTNEss Otn/ YeJ lo, 'r ( ,,, l-
owNER oF BUSINESS tA,,tg.ta F.ccrOi-s

BUSINESS ADDRESS T

CITY, STATE &.zrc

BUSINESS TELEPHONE

NAME OF DRryER

HOME ADDRESS

CITY, STATE &ZIP

HOME TELEPHONF

ALIASES

AGE OF DRIVER

HAVE YOU EVER BEEN ARRESTED? YES

SIGNATU

DATE



Statesboro Police Department
25 West Grady Street

Statesboro, Georgia 3045g
Phone: (912)764-9971 / Fax: (912) 489-5050

Scott P. Brunson
Police Major

Wendell Tumer
Public Safety Director

August L3,2oL2

Sue Starling, City Clerk
City of Statesboro

Via Hand-Deliuery

REF: Licensing

BUSINESS: DW YellowCab, r Greenwood Ave., Statesboro, GA
APPLICANT: Justin Daron Phillips,

The response received from the fingerprints submitted shows no record in the state on
Mr. Phillips.

(Federal records are not searched for this type of license.)

ectfully submitted,

endell B. Turner
Public Safetv Director









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE:  August 15, 2012  
 
TO:   Mayor and Council  
 
FROM:  Cindy S. West  
 
SUBJECT:  Authorized Personnel 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
In the FY 2013 Budget, the Administrative Assistant for the Police Department 
was inadvertently categorized as a part-time position instead of a full time position.  
The position’s salary and all benefits were budgeted as full time. 
 
This is a request for council to change the position from a Part-time position to a 
Full-time position in Authorized Personnel. 
 
Thank you.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50 East Main Street  P.O. Box 348  (912) 764-0652 
Statesboro, Georgia 30458 Statesboro, Georgia 30459 (912) 489-6825 (Fax) 

 City of Statesboro 
Finance Department Memorandum 



Ordinance 2012-06 
An Ordinance Amending Certain Sections of Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 

Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) 
 
WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) of the Code of Ordinances, City of 
Statesboro, Georgia; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
SECTION 1: 
 
Section 6-56 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended by 
replacing it in full, and shall read as follows: 
 
Sec. 6-56. - Sale/service in public places. 
 
(a)  It shall be unlawful to furnish or dispense alcoholic beverages through kegs, barrels, 
cylinders or other portable receptacles containing tap or pump-type devices in which the flow of 
contents is controlled by the operator in a public place and facility. When receptacles are found 
in violation of this section and the person maintaining the receptacle cannot be identified, the 
receptacle shall be confiscated and held for 30 days by the city police. The receptacle may be 
claimed by the owner or lessor, but will be disposed of at the end of 30 days if unclaimed. 
Nothing in this section shall prohibit persons holding licenses pursuant to this article from 
dispensing through kegs, barrels, cylinders or other such receptacles inside the establishments or 
premises approved for a pouring license.  
 
(b)   The consumption of alcoholic beverages shall not be permitted at outdoor events unless an 
Outdoor Event Permit is obtained as provided for in this Code Section.   

(1)  A producer is any person, group of persons, organization, association, club, or other 
entity responsible for planning, producing and conducting an Outdoor Event. The 
producer of an event, if a group or organization, shall be fully identified on the 
application. However, an Outdoor Event Permit shall be issued only to an individual 
person, who may be the actual producer or a designated agent of the producer, and such 
individual person shall be solely and fully responsible for compliance with all provisions, 
including all financial requirements, of this chapter and other applicable laws.    



(2)  A producer seeking an Outdoor Event Permit shall make application at the office of 
the City Clerk on a form prescribed by the City Clerk. Application forms may be 
obtained from the office of the City Clerk.    

(3)  An application for an Outdoor Event Permit should be filed at least 45 days prior to 
the date the event is scheduled to occur. However, no application shall be accepted earlier 
than one year prior to the date of the event.  A nonrefundable application fee of $25.00 
shall be paid at the time of application.  

(4)  The application for an Outdoor Event Permit shall include, in addition to the map 
identifying the outermost boundaries of the event, a map no smaller than 8½ × 11 inches 
in size, clearly identifying the area where the consumption of alcoholic beverages is 
proposed.  
 
(5)  The application for an Outdoor Event Permit shall include a description of the area, 
including the size and the maximum number of persons for such area. The application 
also shall contain a description of the method and structures that will be used to secure 
and separate such area from other public areas.   The structure shall be inspected by the 
Director of Public Safety or his designee and the City Engineer or his designee, to 
determine compliance with applicable fire and safety codes.   Unless approved by the 
Director of Public Safety and the City Engineer no Outdoor Event Permit shall be issued. 
 
(7) The City Clerk or her designee shall cause the application to be circulated to each 
government department and/or other agency whose services would be affected by the 
nature and activities of the proposed event. Each department of the government 
reviewing an application may recommend in writing certain conditions or restrictions as 
deemed necessary to facilitate the event, to comply with other laws or regulations, and/or 
to ensure the safety, health and welfare of the community.  In reviewing the 
recommendations of the departments, the City Clerk may impose such conditions or 
restrictions as a part of the permit and such special conditions so imposed shall be 
construed to have the full force and effect of law as a provision of this chapter. A 
violation of such conditions or restrictions shall be deemed a violation of this chapter.  

 
(8) After considering all comments and conditions of the reviewing departments and 
agencies as well as other information pertaining to the proposed event as described on the 
application, and with the consent of the Director of Public Safety and the City Engineer, 
and upon payment of all applicable fees the City Clerk is authorized to approve and issue 
an Outdoor Event Permit.   
 



(9)  Prior to the issuance of a permit for the event, the proposed licensee shall sign a 
statement of understanding and agreement to the terms and conditions imposed on the 
event. Such a statement shall become a part of the conditions of the permit for the event.  

 
(10)  The producer shall provide, at his/her own expense, a sufficient number of security 
personnel at any outdoor event issued an Outdoor Event Permit.  The Director of Public 
Safety shall determine what number of security personnel is sufficient.  
 
(11)  The producer of an outdoor event shall be required to provide temporary outdoor 
toilet facilities.   The number of toilets and their locations shall be determined by the 
Director of Public Safety or his designee. 
 
(12)  The consumption of alcoholic beverages at outdoor events pursuant to an Outdoor 
Event Permit shall occur within the delineated boundaries of the event.  
 
(13) The delineated boundaries of the event shall be securely enclosed on all sides by a 
fence, barricade or other similar such structure approved by the Director of Public Safety, 
or his designee, and the City Engineer or his designee so as to completely separate that 
area from the areas in which alcoholic beverages are not permitted.  
 
(14)  The dispensing of alcoholic beverages under an Outdoor Event Permit shall be 
restricted to those persons having a valid business license and a retail consumption-on-the 
premises alcoholic beverage license issued by the City of Statesboro, and the dispensing 
of the alcoholic beverages shall only occur within the boundaries of the licensed premises 
as defined in Section 6-2 of the Code of Ordinances.   The name of each licensee who 
will dispense alcoholic beverages to be consumed by patrons within the delineated 
boundaries of the outdoor event shall be required as a part of the application for an 
Outdoor Event Permit.  
 
(15)  Patrons within the delineated boundaries of the Outdoor Event Permit are exempt 
from the restrictions contained in Section 6-163 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 
(16) The delineated boundaries of the event shall be conspicuously posted at all times at 
each point of entrance/exit with signs stating the following: "The possession of alcoholic 
beverages beyond this point is prohibited." The letters of such signs shall not be less than 
three inches in height and one-half inch in width and shall be in black letters on a 
contrasting light background.  
 
(17) It shall be unlawful for patrons of any area within the delineated boundaries of an 
Outdoor Event Permit to bring into or take outside the designated area(s) any alcoholic 



beverage or to furnish any alcoholic beverage to any person outside the designated area 
where alcoholic beverages are permitted.  
 
(18) The fee for a licensed Outdoor Event Permit shall be $5000.00.  
 
(19) No permit issued under this chapter shall be valid prior to or past the date of the 
special event for which it is issued.  

(20)  The safety, health, welfare and good order of all citizens and the community shall 
be first and foremost and every outdoor event shall be conducted in such manner. The 
Director of Public Safety may terminate any activity, whether a part of or the entire 
event, which does not meet this community standard. Upon notification to the event 
producer in person by the Director of Public Safety to cease any activity, it shall be 
unlawful for such producer and/or any participants to permit such activity to continue. 
 
(21)  Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, any person dispensing and/or 
consuming alcoholic beverages in accordance with this section shall comply with all 
other laws and ordinances pertaining to the sale, possession and consumption of alcoholic 
beverages.  

 
SECTION 2: 
 
Section 6-89 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended by 
replacing it in full, and shall read as follows:  
 
Sec. 6-89 Illumination 
 
The exterior of each building in which alcoholic beverages are sold for consumption on the 
premises shall contain sufficient lighting so that all entrances thereto are clearly visible at all 
times. 
 
SECTION 3.  All other sections of Chapter 6 not here expressly amended here remain in full 
force and effect. 
 
SECTION 4.  Should any section, subsection, or provision of this ordinance be ruled invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, then all other sections, subsections, and provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
SECTION 5.  This Ordinance shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption on two separate readings. 
 



THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

First Reading August 21st, 2012 

Second Reading September 5th, 2012 

                                 _____________________________ 

By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

_____________________________ 

Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 





























 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

RZ 12-06-10 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  

444 SOUTH COLLEGE STREET 

LOCATION: 444 South College Street 

 

REQUEST: 
Rezone from R20 (Single Family Residential) 

to R4 (High Density Residential) 

APPLICANT: Dr. James Hood 

OWNER(S): Dr. James Hood 

LAND AREA: Approximately .27 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S21000011000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
2 (Lewis) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting rezoning of approximately .27 acres of an entire 1.59 acre lot located at 444 South College 
Street from R20 (Single Family Residential) District to R4 (High Density Residential) in anticipation of subdividing the 
property for the sale and combination with the northern adjacent property. (See Exhibit A – Location Map & Exhibit B 

– Sketch Plan) 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject area of this request is adjacent to property on South College Street that was recently rezoned from 
PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development with Commercial Retail overlay) to R4 (High Density Residential) for the 
construction of residential development within the downtown district in case RZ 12-05-02. The applicant of the 
aforementioned case wishes to combine the subject property with the northern property for development purposes 
necessitating a zoning map amendment. 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential) Vacant with proposed residential duplexes 

SOUTH: R20 (Single Family Residential) Residential 

EAST: HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial)  Commercial 

WEST R20 (Single Family Residential) & HOC 
(Highway Oriented Commercial) 

Vacant, Residential, & Commercial 

The subject property is located in a primarily residential use area with the property’s eastern property line surrounded 
by commercial uses such as restaurants, convenience stores, etc. (See Exhibit C) 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Urban Core” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Urban Core” character areas are 

identified as the activity and cultural hub of the region and support a wide range of acceptable uses. As a major 

gateway into downtown, traditional development patterns of buildings along the sidewalk and a lively streetscape are 

respected and promoted, while encouraging retail uses with large storefront windows at street level. 

Neighborhood-scaled retail and commercial, arts and entertainment venues, civic centers, office, neighborhood 

services, lofts and urban residential, mixed use, multi-story buildings with retail on the street and office/residential 

above are all appropriate land uses for properties within the Urban Core character area. Some suggested 

development and implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and setbacks. 

 Economic development strategies should continue to nurture thriving commercial activity. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 12-13. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, setback and height requirements should be maintained when possible. 
Allowing this portion of the subject property to be rezoned allows the adjacent property owner the opportunity to 
purchase the rezoned lot to combine with the proposed development to maintain necessary setbacks. See Exhibit B. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city utilities including water and sewer, sanitation, and public safety services.  No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands but is located in a flood hazard; however, this request should not 
generate any additional issues. There is no expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential 
issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The entire 1.59 acre site is currently zoned R20 (Single Family Residential) and contains single family homes. The 
applicant’s request to rezone a portion (approximately .27 acres) of the property from R20 (Single Family Residential) to 
R4 (High Density Residential) would allow for subdivision and combination with the adjacent lot to the north to be 
developed with the proposed residential development recently rezoned to R4 (High Density Residential). Staff 
recommends that Council consider the effect this request would have on split zoning which can be defined as two or 
more zoning designations on one piece of property. Split zoning can be viewed as a short-term solution but can easily 
turn into a long-term problem if, for example, the applicant does not follow through with subdivision and combination. In 
such instance, accurately mapping split-zoned properties can be difficult, causing potential liability issues. The current 
zoning ordinance does not provide guidance for split-zone requests nor does it prohibit the practice; therefore, staff 
must consider each request on a case by case basis. 
 
The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning 
map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies 
articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in 
conformance with the requirements of the proposed R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district for residential uses 
only as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

o Existing uses and zoning of nearby property range from commercial to single family residential 
homes. According to the Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, this area provides urban style 
housing opportunities through live-work and loft housing. Expanding housing options in downtown 
is encouraged.  

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 



 

Page 3 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

o The proposed residential development is much more desirable and aesthetically pleasing than the 
existing vacant property while providing unique housing options to the public and downtown area. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
o The proposed land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the 

Comprehensive Plan. 
o The property is currently utilized in a residential manner.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

o The entire parcel currently holds single family homes. The portion of the lot to be rezoned is vacant. 
Allowing the applicant to rezone for subdivision/combination purposes will allow development of an 
underutilized portion of property. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

o Traffic counts for the immediate area (and thereby relative to the subject property’s proposed use) 
states that the total average annual daily trips reached approximately 1,310 trips both ways for the 
year 2011 which is an increase of 1,000 trips from 2010 but is not expected to increase significantly 
with the applicant’s request. 

o The Long Range Transportation Plan does not identify the level of service at this segment. 
o The proposed use is not expected to have a negative impact on population density, community 

facilities, living conditions, traffic patterns and property values in adjacent areas given its current 
single family zoning district, and is not expected to be negative or burdensome to the general public 
or surrounding property owners. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 
o The requested zoning map amendment is consistent with the policies articulated within the 2035 

Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan. 
o As illustrated on the sketch plan submittal, the subject property can be developed in conformance 

with the requirements for the proposed R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district when 
combined with the adjacent lot. The combined property will be sufficient in size and shape for 
proposed residential use and should meet the setback and other standards of the R4 (High Density 
Residential) zoning districts as well as the parking, buffering, and other development requirements 
set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. If the subject property does not combine with the 
adjacent parcel after being rezoned, the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance could not 
be met. 

o The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan adopts a goal of “promot[ing] infill and redevelopment”  
stating that “infill development, which consists of developing vacant lots dispersed in developed 
areas, strengthens neighborhoods and reinvests money into infrastructure which is already in 
place”. (Community Agenda, page 51).  The requested utilization of the subject site would achieve 

this goal. 
o Use of the property as high density residential is consistent with the vision and guiding principles of 

the “Urban Core” character area as articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan which 
promotes new developments to include mixed uses such as small to mid-size retail, single family 
residential, and multifamily residential. 

o This request may pose an issue of split-zoning the property until subdivision and combination is 
completed. The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not offer any provisions or guidance in regards 
to split-zoning parcels. In this case, no negative impact on zoning is expected as result of this 
request. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and the Long Range Transportation Plan, staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 12-06-10. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 4-0 to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by Case RZ 12-06-
10. Commissioner Hendley recused himself from the case due to conflict of interest. 



 

Page 4 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

(Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 



 

Page 5 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT B: SKETCH PLAN 

 



 

Page 6 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 

 
Figure 1: The Subject Property from South College Street. 

 

 
Figure 2: Subject Property from the Adjacent Northern Parcel. 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 7 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-06-10 

Amended August15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 
Figure 4: Northern Parcel Adjacent to Subject Site – Anticipated Combination. 
 

 
Figure 5: Across South College Street from Subject Property. 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

RZ 12-07-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  

56 NORTH ZETTEROWER AVENUE 

LOCATION: 56 North Zetterower Avenue 

 

REQUEST: 
Rezone from O (Office) to CR (Commercial 

Retail) 

APPLICANT: Josh Whitfield 

OWNER(S): Carroll Baird, III 

LAND AREA: .68 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S38000056000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
1 (Blitch) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting rezoning of approximately .68 acres of property located at 56 North Zetterower Avenue from 
O (Office) District to CR (Commercial Retail). (See Exhibit A – Location Map & Exhibit B – Sketch Plan) 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject area of this request was rezoned from O (Office) to R3 (Medium Density Residential) in 2007. The 
following year, the property was rezoned from R3 (Medium Density Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) for an 
office use. After a proposal to construct two buildings on the same lot was made, the property was later rezoned from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to O (Office) due to a previous provision in the ordinance that required a minimum lot size of 
20,000 ft

2
 per structure. Approximately two weeks following the latest rezone, previous administration amended the 

text of the ordinance to reduce minimum lot sizes from 20,000 ft
2
 to 10,000 ft

2
 in CR (Commercial Retail) districts; 

thus, making the most previously mentioned zoning map amendment unnecessary. A permit was issued for the 
construction of an outer shell for one of the two proposed buildings on the site which presently remains vacant and 
unused. The applicant wishes to rezone the property back to CR (Commercial Retail) to finish the construction of the 
current empty building shell with an anticipated commercial use. The applicant also anticipates the development of 
the additional previously proposed building on the same lot in the near future for commercial uses as well. 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Commercial 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) and R15 (Single 
Family Residential) 

Residential & Church 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) and R15 Vacant, Residential, & Commercial 

WEST LI (Light Industrial) Commercial 

Properties to the north of the subject property are zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and contain Stubbs Oil and an 
automotive repair shop. Parcels to the east contain several single family homes zoned R15 (Single Family Residential) 
and commercial uses to the extreme east zoned CR (Commercial Retail). The southern parcels are zoned R15 (Single 



 

Page 2 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

Family Residential) and CR (Commercial Retail) with single family homes and a church.  Finally, the western parcels 
are zoned LI (Light Industrial) and contain several commercial uses such as an automotive repair shop. (See Exhibit C) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Urban Core” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Urban Core” character areas are 

identified as the activity and cultural hub of the region and support a wide range of acceptable uses. As a major 

gateway into downtown, traditional development patterns of buildings along the sidewalk and a lively streetscape are 

respected and promoted, while encouraging retail uses with large storefront windows at street level. 

Neighborhood-scaled retail and commercial, arts and entertainment venues, civic centers, office, neighborhood 

services, lofts and urban residential, mixed use, multi-story buildings with retail on the street and office/residential 

above are all appropriate land uses for properties within the Urban Core character area. Some suggested 

development and implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and setbacks. 

 Economic development strategies should continue to nurture thriving commercial activity. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 12-13. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, It is desirable to encourage mixed-use infill and development while nurturing 
commercial activity. Permitting the subject property to be rezoned allows the applicant an opportunity to clean up and 
utilize an overgrown lot containing an abandoned incomplete building and remedy a possible issue of spot zoning. See 
Exhibit B. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city utilities including water and sewer, sanitation, and public safety services.  No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands but is located in a flood zone; however, this request should not 
generate any additional issues. There is no expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential 
issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The .68 acre subject site is currently zoned O (Office) and contains an abandoned incomplete building shell. The 
applicant’s request to rezone the property from O (Office) to CR (Commercial Retail) would allow a commercial 
utilization of the property as previously proposed. Council’s decision to grant a zoning map amendment from CR 
(Commercial Retail) to O (Office) in 2009 made the proposal consistent with a previous provision in the ordinance that 
would not have allowed the proposed construction. Just weeks after Council granted a rezone to allow the applicant’s 
proposal, the ordinance for CR (Commercial Retail) zoning districts was amended in a manner that would have 
permitted the applicant’s proposal without initiating the original rezone. 
 
The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning 
map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies 
articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in 
conformance with the requirements of the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district as set forth in the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

o Existing uses and zoning of nearby property range from commercial to single family residential 
homes. According to the Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, mixed use while nurturing 
thriving commercial activity is encouraged. This request would accomplish that. 

o The current O (Office) zoning possibly presents issues of spot zoning. Rezoning the subject 
property would remedy this. 



 

Page 3 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

o Although the subject property lies on the outside of a residential district, Council’s previous 
decisions to zone the property for commercial and office uses considered the property’s 
compatibility with surrounding land uses and found the proposed use to be compatible. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

o Only office related uses are permitted within the current zoning designation. Rezoning the property 
to CR (Commercial Retail) will allow office uses as well as many other possible small scale 
commercial uses. 

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

o Currently, this lot is in desperate need of attention with overgrown grass, an abandoned unfinished 
building, and an empty parking lot. Leaving developments of this nature to be abandoned poses a 
risk to the public both physically and aesthetically. Reducing dilapidated structures is a crucial 
factor in the City. Allowing an empty structure to sit abandoned would do the opposite. Rezoning 
opens more already deemed compatible by City Council and allows underutilization of the property. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
o The proposed land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the 

Comprehensive Plan. 
o Although the property did not meet previous standards of the CR (Commercial Retail) district, past 

text amendments make this property suitable and developable by the provisions of the proposed 
district. 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

o After being rezoned from CR (Commercial Retail) to O (Office) for consistency with minimum lot 
requirements, amendments to the CR text were initiated by staff which made the property 
consistent with the CR provisions as well. A building permit for the construction of the exterior shell 
of a building was pulled in 2009 while the rest of the building along with the proposed additional 
building was never completed. The lot and building have sat vacant and abandoned since that time 
and has now become overgrown and unsightly. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

o Traffic counts for the immediate area (and thereby relative to the subject property’s proposed use) 
states that the total average annual daily trips reached approximately 4,200 trips both ways for the 
year 2011 and is not expected to increase significantly with the applicant’s request. 

o The Long Range Transportation Plan does not identify the level of service at this segment. 
o The proposed use is not expected to have a negative impact on population density, community 

facilities, living conditions, traffic patterns and property values in adjacent areas given its current 
single family zoning district, and is not expected to be negative or burdensome to the general public 
or surrounding property owners. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

o The requested zoning map amendment is consistent with the policies articulated within the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan. 

o As illustrated on the sketch plan submittal, the subject property can be developed in conformance 
with the requirements for the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district. The subject 
property is sufficient in size and shape for proposed commercial use and should meet the setback 
and other standards of the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning districts as well as the parking, 
buffering, and other development requirements set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

o A CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district would allow a wider variety of small scale commercial 
uses while still maintaining the office use if the applicant so chooses and eliminates the need for 
future zoning map amendments of the property. 

o The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan adopts a goal of “promot[ing] infill and redevelopment”  
stating that “infill development, which consists of developing vacant lots dispersed in developed 
areas, strengthens neighborhoods and reinvests money into infrastructure which is already in 
place”. (Community Agenda, page 51).  The requested utilization of the subject site would achieve 
this goal. 

o Use of the property as commercial retail is consistent with the vision and guiding principles of the 
“Urban Core” character area as articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan which 
promotes new developments to include mixed uses such as small to mid-size retail, single family 
residential, and multifamily residential. 

 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and the Long Range Transportation Plan, staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 12-07-01 with the following condition: 

1. Applicant must reconstruct driveway to meet GDOT specifications. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by Case RZ 12-07-
01. 

 

 

(Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT B: SKETCH PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 

 
Figure 1: The Empty Incomplete Building Shell from North Zetterower Avenue. 

 

 
Figure 2: North Zetterower Avenue from Parking Lot. 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-01 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 
Figure 4: Adjacent Commercial Uses across North Zetterower from Subject Property. 
 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

RZ 12-07-02 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  

STATESBORO PLACE CIRCLE 

LOCATION: Statesboro Place Circle 

 

REQUEST: 
Rezone from CR (Commercial Retail) to R4 

(High Density Residential) 

APPLICANT: Copper Beech Townhome Communities, LLP 

OWNER(S): 

Copper Beech Townhome Communities, 

LLP, Mary Garrett, and Angela Hoyt c/o 

Stephen Rushing 

LAND AREA: 20.19 acres and 6.9 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 

MS63000026019, MS63000026005, & 

MS63000026001 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
5 (Chance) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting rezoning of approximately 27.09 acres total of property located on Statesboro Place Circle 
off the Bypass from CR (Commercial Retail) to R4 (High Density Residential). 20.19 acres contains existing apartments, 
currently known as Copper Beech Apartments. The applicant wishes to acquire an additional 6.9 acres for future 
expansion. High density residential is not a permitted use in CR (Commercial Retail) districts; therefore, the applicant 
must rezone the designated lots for the proposed expansion to R4 (High Density Residential) initiating an additional 
request to rezone the entire apartment complex as well. (See Exhibit A – Location Map & Exhibit B – Sketch Plan) 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject area of this request is located on Statesboro Place Circle and is currently zoned R4 (High Density 
Residential). None of the subject parcels have pursued previous zoning map amendments or variances. However, at 
the time of the construction of the existing apartments, high density residential was permitted in a CR (Commercial 
Retail) district. The provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance have since changed resulting in this request.

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential) Apartments 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Restaurants 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail)  Offices 

WEST R4 (High Density Residential) Apartments 

The subject property is located in a primarily residential use area with commercial uses east and south. The property’s 
eastern property line is surrounded by parcels zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and utilized as retail and offices. The 
western and northern property lines are surrounded by parcels zoned R4 (High Density Residential) and currently 
contains several apartment complexes. The southern parcels are zoned CR (Commercial Retail) and are or have been 
utilized for restaurant use as The Millhouse and vacant Sonny’s BBQ. (See Exhibit C) 



 

Page 2 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “University District” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “University District” character areas are 

identified as being anchored by Georgia Southern University. Developing areas should focus heavily on pedestrian 

accessibility, as well as transit. There are residential areas within this district, primarily oriented to student housing. 

Multi-family, duplex, and single-family are all found in this district while student-oriented commercial uses are found 

along primary arteries, including restaurants/bars and nightclubs. 

Neighborhood-scaled retail, higher education facilities, multi-family, single-family, and mixed use are all appropriate 

land uses for properties within the University District character areas. Some suggested development and 

implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 Encourage future growth within the academic core. 

 Ensure adequate bicycle and pedestrian facilities for students commuting to and from GSU campus. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 20-21. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, residential development in this area is expected. The subject site is already 

being utilized as an apartment complex and wishes to expand. Utilizing the subject site as for residential purposes 
adjacent to the existing small scale retail uses contributes to the mixed use goal set forth by the Comprehensive Plan. 
The Comprehensive Plan also encourages pedestrian facilities for students; this site has an existing interior sidewalk 
and the expansion is expected to follow a similar concept. See Exhibit B. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city utilities including water and sewer, sanitation, and public safety services.  No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a flood zone. There is no expected environmental 
impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting 
and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The existing 20.19 acre site is currently zoned CR (Commercial Retail) as an apartment complex and is located on 
Statesboro Place Circle which is primarily accessed from Veterans Memorial Bypass. The applicant’s request to rezone 
the property from CR (Commercial Retail) to R4 (High Density Residential) was initiated by a proposal to expand the 
existing apartment complex by obtaining approximately 6.9 additional acres which are also zoned CR (Commercial 
Retail). The applicant wishes to rezone all 27.09 acres to R4 (High Density Residential) to allow for expansion on a 
vacant proposed lot while amending the zoning of the existing apartment complex to provide conformity with the current 
zoning ordinance. 
 
Although the existing apartment complex was permitted in a CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district when the apartment 
was originally constructed, current regulations prohibit such use in said district. As such, the existence of the apartment 
complex is considered a nonconforming use. Expansion of the existing complex, or future utilization of the property as it 
is presently, would not be permitted if left vacant for a period longer than 12 months. Likewise, the additional vacant 
property that the applicant wishes to seek to build more units as an expansion of the existing apartment complex is not 
zoned appropriately. The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance limits Commercial Retail districts to retail related uses with 
apartments on upper floors only. 
 
The request to rezone the subject property from CR (Commercial Retail) district to R4 (High Density Residential) 
district should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 
2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies articulated within the city’s two (2) 
primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long 
Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in conformance with the requirements of the 
proposed R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district for residential uses only as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 
Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 



 

Page 3 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

o Existing uses and zoning of nearby property range from commercial to high density residential. 
According to the Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, this area is under pressure to grow in a 
mixed use and residential manner. Mixed use can be defined as the use of a building or 
neighborhood for more than one purpose. Mixed use developments provide a range of commercial 
and residential unit sizes and options while maintaining the intent and character of the area. 

o The existing Commercial Retail zones that front Veterans Memorial Bypass will remain as such. 
(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

o The property values of an existing apartment complex in a commercial retail zone may be lower 
due to the restricted use of such by the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and may possibly deny future 
utilization of the property in the same manner if the current zoning designation is maintained. 

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

o The requested rezone of this property would open up opportunities for the vacant property to 
develop in a manner that is consistent with the land use plans and will give students and others a 
chance to live in close proximity to campus. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
o The proposed and current land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and 

the Comprehensive Plan. 
o The 20.19 acre site is currently being utilized as high density residential apartment complex in a 

commercial zoned area that strives to develop in a mixed use manner with residential uses 
encouraged. The vacant 6.91 acre lot can be developed as proposed in a high density residential 
zoning district. 

(6) The amount of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

The 20.19 acre site has not been vacant for numerous years but has been considered to be a 
nonconforming use. The additional 6.91 acre lot is vacant as zoned and has been for several years. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

o Traffic counts for the immediate area (and thereby relative to the subject property’s proposed use) 
were not reported for the year 2011. The applicant’s request is not expected to increase traffic 
volume in a negative manner due to the existing apartment complexes with the additional access 
drive leading to and from Veterans Memorial Bypass. 

o The Long Range Transportation Plan did not express the need for future improvements along this 
corridor. 

o The proposed use is not expected to have a negative impact on population density, community 
facilities, living conditions, traffic patterns and property values in adjacent areas given its current 
use, and is not expected to be negative or burdensome to the general public or surrounding 
property owners.   

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 
o The Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan does not express any 

issues or necessities for this area.  
o As illustrated on the sketch plan submittal, the subject property can or has been developed in 

conformance with the requirements for the proposed R4 (High Density Residential) zoning districts. 
The subject property is sufficient in size and shape for proposed multifamily use and should meet 
the setback and other standards of the R4 (High Density Residential) zoning districts as well as the 
parking, buffering, and other development requirements set forth in the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance.  

o The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan adopts a goal of “promot[ing] infill and redevelopment”  
stating that “infill development, which consists of developing vacant lots dispersed in developed 
areas, strengthens neighborhoods and reinvests money into infrastructure which is already in 
place”. (Community Agenda, page 51).  The requested utilization of the 6.91 acre subject site 
would achieve this goal. 

o Use of the property as high density residential is consistent with the vision and guiding principles of 
the “University District” character area as articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

which promotes new developments to include mixed uses such as small-scale retail, multifamily 
residential and single family residential. 

 
 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and the Long Range Transportation Plan, staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 12-07-02. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by Case RZ 12-07-
02. 

 

(Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT B: SKETCH PLAN OF THE EXPANSION 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 

 
Figure 1: The 6.91 Acre Subject Property from the Existing Complex. 

 

 
Figure 2: Subject Site from Statesboro Place Circle. 



 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-07-02 

Amended August 15, 2012 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 
Figure 3: Southern Edge of the Subject Property facing Veterans Memorial Bypass. 
 
 



 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2012-19: A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE GRANT POLICY FOR 
THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 
 
 

THAT WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro has developed a grant policy which guides the 
application and procedures for grant opportunities; and   
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed the Grant Policy proposed by 
the City Manager, and desire to adopt this policy; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia in regular session assembled this 21st day of August, 2012 that the grant policy included 
on the attached pages are hereby adopted as the Grant Policy for the City of Statesboro. 
 

This Resolution shall be effective from and after its date of adoption. 
 

Adopted this 21st day of August, 2012  
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
By: Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Typ

Grant 

 

Section 
 
The Finan
and comp
the efficie
City but c
to achieve
Example A
 
The City o
 

A.

B.

C.

D.

E.

F. 

G.

H.

pe of 

Funds 

I:  Introdu

nce Departm
liance with F

ency of grant
can be an adm
e maximum g
A) to ensure

of Statesboro

. Block Gra
Congress t
education 
distributed
income sec
largely at t

 Competiti
money, or 
usually ma

. Continuat
budget per

. Condition
involveme
conditiona

 Cooperati
variation o
having sub
project. 
Earmark 
source of r
legislator. 
legislators 
district the
revenues a
spending p

. Formula G
grantees, f
that are wr
awarded an

. Pass-thru 
through an

T

uction 

ment is publis
Federal, Stat
t administrat
ministrative 
grant fundin

e all steps an

o considers t

ants - a broa
to state or lo
or health ser

d according t
curity, educa
the recipient
ive (Discreti
property in 

ade on the ba
tion of any g
riods subsequ
nal Grant - a
ent of others 
al upon the re
ive Agreeme
of a discretio
bstantial invo

- refers to a 
revenue be d
Typically, th
who seek to

e legislator re
are pooled in
programs as 
Grants - a g
for which the
ritten into the
nd administe
of any gran

nother granto

he City 
Gra

shing this gra
te, and local
tion efforts b
burden, our 

ng and efficie
d documents

the term gra

ad intergover
cal governm
rvices, but w
to legal form
ation or trans
t's discretion
ionary) Gra
lieu of mone
asis of a com
grant type -
uent to the in
a conditional
by making t
emainder of 
ents & Cont

onary grant, a
olvement wi

provision in
designated fo
he City subm
o obtain fund
epresents. Ea

n a general fu
opposed to a

grant that the
e amount is e
e legislation
ered in the F
nt type - gra
or or funding

of State
nt Polic

 

ant policy to
 regulations
by the City.  
goal is to sim

ency.  Includ
s are comple

ant to include

rnmental tran
ments for spe
with few restr
mulas definin

sportation.  T
n. 
ants - an awa
ey, by the Fe

mpetitive rev
- a continuat
nitial budget
l grant invol
their grant (o
the cost bein
tracts - a typ
awarded by 
th the grante

n legislation 
or specific pr
mits requests
ds for those r
armarking b
und and then
a specific pr

e Federal age
established b

n and program
Federal agenc
ant funds rec
g source. 

esboro
cy 

o facilitate gr
.  The guidel
Because gra

mplify, coor
ded in this p
eted. 

e the followi

nsfer of fund
ecific activiti
rictions attac

ng broad func
They are use

ard of financ
ederal gover

view process
tion grant pro
t period. 
lves one gran
only a part o
ng funded fr
pe of Federa
a Federal ag
ee during the

requiring th
rojects usual
s for projects
requests, usu
ypasses the 

n allocated a
roject. 
ency is direc
by a formula
m regulation
cy's program

ceived from o

rant seeking
lines are inte
ants bring re
rdinate, and 
olicy is a ch

ing funding 

ds or other a
ies such as s
ched. Block 
ctional areas
ed for a varie

cial assistanc
rnment to an
s. 
ovides addit

nt maker see
of the total co
rom another 
al assistance
gency when i
e performan

at a portion 
lly at the req
s to state and
ually to be sp
normal proc

among variou

cted by Cong
a based on ce
ns; this fundi
m offices. 
one grantor, 

, administrat
ended to inc
esources into
combine eff

hecklist (*Se

types: 

assets by the 
econdary 
grants are 

s such as hea
ety of activit

ce in the form
n eligible gra

tional fundin

eking the 
osts of a proj
source. 
; essentially,
it anticipates
ce of a funde

of a certain 
quest of a 
d federal 
pent in the 
cedure by wh
us governme

gress to mak
ertain criteri
ing is directl

but passed 

tion, 
rease 

o the 
forts 
e 

U.S. 

alth, 
ties, 

m of 
antee, 

ng for 

ject) 

, a 
s 
ed 

hich 
ent 

e to 
ia 
ly 



 

I. Reimbursement Programs - a type of funding program under which the grantee is 
reimbursed for qualifying expenditures already incurred, as specified in the terms of 
the grant agreement for such a program. 

J. State Grants - a grant made by State Government. 
K. Federal Grants - a grant made by the Federal Government. 
L. Corporate Grants - a grant made by a corporate foundation. 

 
Section II:  General Flow of Information 

 
It is the duty of the Grant Coordinator to work with the Departments to look for and maximize 
grant opportunities.   Departments will be more familiar with their current needs or upcoming 
projects and will be able to find sources that best fit their needs.  Once a grant opportunity has 
been identified, the Department must inform the Grant Administrator in the Finance Department 
of their intent to pursue the grant opportunity. 

A. Grant Manager: The person at the department level who applies for the grant and 
signs as the grant applicant is directly responsible for administering the grant on behalf 
of the City, unless otherwise stated. 

B. Grant Coordinator:  A staff member in the Finance Department who serves as a 
liaison for facilitating the maximization of grant potential. 

C. Grant Administrator:  A staff member in the Finance Department who assists the 
Grant Manager in furnishing financial information as may be required by the funding 
agency, and to provide guidance on the compliance requirements of the award. 

D. Responsibilities of the Department:  It is extremely important that all lines of 
communication are open between the department applying for a grant and the Grant 
Administrator.  Communication includes notifying the Grant Administrator of any 
interaction with the granting agency regarding grant opportunities, grant application 
deadlines, and special information such as what the particular granting source is 
looking for when reviewing applications. 
To begin the grant process the Grant Administrator is to be notified of the intent or the 
interest in applying for a particular grant.  If, after a discussion with the City Manager 
and Director of Finance Department, it has been determined that an application for the 
grant should be submitted, a memo for committal (* See Example B) will be sent to 
the Finance Department.  The Grant Manager will contact the finance department’s 
Grant Administrator to coordinate and organize the rest of the application process. 

E.  Responsibilities of the Grant Coordinator:  It is the duty of the Grant Coordinator to 
notify the department of any grant opportunities. 

F.  Responsibilities of the Grant Administrator:   It is not the responsibility of the Grant 
Administrator to look for or research grant opportunities.  However, should a grant 
opportunity come to the attention of the Grant Administrator, it is the duty of the Grant 
Administrator to notify the department in which the grant opportunity would best fit. 

 
Section III: Applications for Federal and State Funding 
 

A.  Approval from Mayor and Council   The first step that must be accomplished in the 
application process for a grant is a resolution (*See Example C) requesting approval to 
apply, which is to be signed by the Mayor and Council The applying department is 



 

responsible for all aspects of the resolution which include writing the resolution, 
setting up appointments for Council work sessions by contacting the City Clerk, 
attending the work session, and possibly presenting the resolution before Council. The 
Grant Administrator will accompany the applying department if so desired. 
The reason for a resolution is that grants are contractual agreements for which only the 
Mayor and Council can sign to obligate the City of Statesboro in a legal agreement. In 
addition, many grants require matching funds, which must have prior budgetary 
approval. Therefore, all grant applications and acknowledgements must have 
prior City Council approval. 

B.  Applying and Writing 
1.)  Responsibilities of the Department Applying 

a. Writing the grant or obtaining a third party to write the grant. 
b. Collecting data for statistics or other informational backup for the grant 

application. 
c. Setting up a time for the Grant Administrator to review the grant. 
d. Obtaining all signatures required for the grant application. 
e. Ensure that the Grant Administrator receives a copy of the signed grant 

application prior to submission to the granting agency. 
f. Mailing or delivering the grant application to the granting agency. 
g. When completed, the application is required to be reviewed by the Grant 

Administrator and Financial Department personnel. Allow no less than five 
working days for review of the application and agenda documents. If timing is 
critical, notify the Financial Department of the forthcoming item for special 
handling. However, your assistance is requested to minimize "RUSH" items. 

h. Once the grant has either been awarded (See part C. under section II for 
instructions) or declined, the applying department will send a copy of the letter 
sent from the granting agency to the Grant Administrator. If the grant has been 
declined the Grant Administrator will either close the file or obtain more 
information necessary to correct the grant for possible resubmission in the 
future. 

 2.)  Responsibilities of the Grant Administrator 
a.   The responsibilities of the Grant Administrator are to assist the department's 

grant manager or writer in reading the application instructions, assist in 
researching information needed to complete the grant in the time allotted, as 
well as review the written grant when completed. Although, it is the 
responsibility of the Grant Manager to review, understand and communicate 
the requirements of the grant, the Grant Administrator must also review the 
grant requirements, regulations (example federal OMB A-87, A-128 or A-133) 
and prohibitions. The Grant Administrator will need to make note of reporting 
deadlines, and assign the Fund and Project number to track the grant. 

C.   Accepting the Award 
1.)  To begin the grant acceptance process the applying department will write a 
resolution for permission to accept the award given (* See Example D). This 
resolution should include the name and number of the grant, the granting agency, 
name of agency or department awarded, award amount, any match requirements, and 
where the funds will be budgeted. Once the resolution of acceptance has been 



 

approved and signed by the Mayor and Council, a copy should be sent to the Grant 
Office. 
2.)  The last step is....Open Communication! Any documentation sent to the 
department by the granting agency, (i.e., expense reports, reports required, and any 
other required documentation, regardless of how insignificant) should be copied to the 
Grant Administrator. 

D.  Monitoring and Administration of Awarded Grant 
1.)  Responsibilities of Awarded Department:  As the project progresses, it is the 

responsibility of the Department to assign a Grant Manager (typically this is the 
project manager but does not have to be). It is the duty of the Grant Manager to 
ensure that all aspects of the grant requirements are in compliance. 

2.)  Responsibilities of Grant Administrator:  It will be the responsibility of the 
Grant Administrator to set-up the necessary revenue and expense accounts for the 
awarded grant. The account numbers will then be communicated to the Grant 
Manager so that he/she can ensure proper coding on each expenditure/expense 
request submitted. 
The Grant Administrator will also be responsible for the submission of the draw 
request to the granting agency where applicable. 
As grant revenue is received, it is the duty of the Grant Administrator to properly 
code said revenues to the designated account specified during the grant set-up 
process. 
It is the responsibility of both the Grant Manager and the Grant Administrator to 
keep proper documentation for grant expenses/expenditures and revenue. 
 

Section IV: Audits 
 

A.  External:   The City contracts with an external audit firm each year to perform an 
audit, which includes a Single Audit, based on OMB Circular A-128 (A-133, effective 
with 1997 grants). This audit requires a Schedule of Federal and State Financial 
Assistance for grants received during the audited fiscal year and discloses revenue and 
expenditures for each grant. The Single Audit also includes reports from the external 
auditor on compliance, internal controls, etc. All Federal and State revenue must be 
reported on the Single Audit each year. The Finance Department will ensure all 
Federal and State revenue is reported by ensuring the revenue is receipted and 
recognized accurately, thus establishing adequate grant audit trails. The Grant 
Administrator and the Finance Department are responsible for setting this procedure 
up at the time the grant is awarded to the City. 

B.  Grant Agency Audit:  The Purpose of the Single Audit is to prevent or eliminate the 
necessity for each grantor agency to perform a separate audit of the grantee (City). 
However, some agencies still perform independent audits. The agency's auditors begin 
with the City's Single Audit information and then request more detailed information 
for their audit. If any programmatic issues arise, the department may be requested to 
respond to those inquiries. Occasionally, a site visit may be necessary. The Grant 
Administrator will make an appointment with the departmental liaison to allow the 
auditor to visit the site. 

 



 

The Finance Department is responsible for supplying the information requested by the 
auditors for the Single or the Agency Audits. 

C.  Grant Section Monitoring or Internal Audit:  The Grant Administrator is 
responsible for identifying and monitoring compliance issues and monitoring those to 
ensure compliance and prevent audit exceptions or findings. Periodically, an 
appointment will be made with the department to review programmatic areas, 
reporting, and to verify compliance with expenditures on each grant. In addition, the 
Grant Administrator will also monitor requirements of the grant agreement such as 
public hearings, bid specs, wage rates, etc. The Grant Administrator is responsible for 
ensuring all grant requirements are being met in these areas.  The department awarded 
the grant as well as the Grant Administrator is responsible for reading the grant 
contract thoroughly. 

D.  Conflict Of Interest:  Grant audit findings due to conflicts of interest can damage the 
reputation and credibility of the City. Further, the appearance of a conflict of interest 
can be just as damaging to the City's reputation and credibility as an actual conflict. 
The purpose of this policy is to avoid the appearance, as well as the actuality, of any 
conflict of interest or breach of trust by an official or employee of the City. 
1.)  No officer or employee of the City shall have any interest, financial or otherwise, 

direct or indirect, or have any arrangement concerning prospective employment 
that will, or may be reasonably expected to, bias the design, conduct, or reporting 
of a grant funded project on which he or she is working. 

2.)  The Grant Project Manager for each particular grant funded project shall ensure 
that in the use of project funds, officials or employees of the City and 
nongovernmental recipients or sub-recipients shall avoid any action that might 
result in, or create the appearance of: 
a. Using his or her official position for private gain. 
b. Giving preferential treatment to any person or organization. 
c. Losing complete independence or impartiality. 
d. Making an official decision outside official channels. 
e. Affecting adversely public confidence in the grant funded program in 

particular and the City in general. 
f. Any violation of this provision is governed by City Policy & Procedure. 

E. Termination of Grant and Cooperative Agreement Awards by the Award 
Recipient 
1.) An award may be terminated upon written notification to the awarding agency, 

which will formalize the termination with an agreement.  
2.) A termination agreement specifies the conditions for termination, including the 

effective date of the termination, the recipient's continuing responsibility to comply 
with audit and closeout procedures, and, in the case of partial terminations, the 
portion of the award being terminated. 

3.) If possible, a final determination of allowable costs is also included in the 
termination agreement. 

 
Section V: Grants Management Database 

The Grants Management Database (*See Example E) is a tool to assist in the management of 
grants awarded to the City, improve coordination, enhance oversight and provide a snapshot of 



 

the current Citywide grant landscape. It is maintained by the Finance Department. This section 
shall describe the use of the Grants Management Database and establish the responsibilities for 
entering the required grant related data. 

A. Grants Management Database Procedure 
1.)   All City staff must immediately report all grant activity to Finance Department. 
This shall include grants being considered for a program or project (even if not 
ultimately pursued) and grant applications submitted. 
2.)  The Grant Manager for each department or division must conduct a check of the 
database to determine if there is another record of intent to submit an application for 
the same grant opportunity. 
3.)   If another record for the same grant opportunity exists within the same grant year 
or cycle, the Grant Manager must notify the Finance Department, which will resolve 
potential conflicts in accordance with this policy. 
4.)   If no record of the same grant opportunity exists within the same grant year or 
cycle, the Grant Manager must enter the required grant tracking information contained 
in the Grants Management Database. 
5.)   Each grant record shall be updated upon any change to the status of the grant 
and/or the information previously entered. 

B.  D-U-N-S Number - Dun & Bradstreet (D&B) issues a D-U-N-S Number, a unique 
nine digit identification number that is required to apply for US Federal Government 
contracts or grants. 

1.)  The Finance Department has the sole responsibility of managing and obtaining D-
U-N-S numbers for the City of Statesboro from the federal government’s Central 
Contractor Registry. 
2.)  Contact the Finance Department to obtain the City of Statesboro’s D-U-N-S 
number. 

C.  File Management, Access and Retention.  The Director of Finance may review the 
files, activities, equipment, and facilities, and interview relevant personnel and contracted 
entities of any City of Statesboro project or program that is funded with grants awarded to 
the City. 

1.)  File Management Procedure:  All department and master files associated with a 
grant award must maintain a file structure that includes the following five sections 
with clear separations between different fiscal years, unless otherwise directed by the 
grantor: 

a.   Submittal (e.g., application guidance and a copy of the application) 
b.   Research (e.g., statistical and other information used in preparation of and 

support of the grant) 
c.   Award (e.g., award letter, council agenda item, grant agreement, grant 

amendments, modifications, extensions, cancellations and terminations and 
anything else related to the award) 

d.   Finance (e.g... account set up. purchase orders, invoices) 
e.   Reports (e.g., reports to granting entity and evaluation components) 

2.)  File Retention Procedure:  The City of Statesboro maintains records for at least 
five years following the closure of its most recent audit report. If any litigation, claim, 
negotiation, audit, or other action involving grant records has been started before the 
expiration of the five-year period, the records must be retained until completion of the 



 

action and resolution of all issues which arise from it, or until the end of the regular 
five-year period, whichever is later. 

a.   Grantors may require retention periods in excess of five years. 
      Departments must ensure they comply with retention requirements specified by 

each grantor. 
b.  Retention requirements extend to books of original entry, source documents 

supporting accounting transactions, the general ledger, subsidiary ledgers, 
personnel and payroll records, cancelled checks, and related documents and 
records. 

c.   Source documents include copies of all awards, applications, and required 
recipient financial and narrative reports. Personnel and payroll records shall 
include the time and attendance reports, personal activity reports or equivalent 
documentation for all individuals reimbursed under the award. 

d.   File Maintenance Recipient departments are also obligated to protect records 
adequately against loss, theft, fire or other damage in accordance with statutory 
provisions as outlined in the most current General Records Schedule. 

E. Grant Closeout:  Upon completion of the grant term of each grant award, the recipient 
department shall alert Finance Department to place the fund and/or project in a no posting 
status. 

1.) Grant Closeout Procedure: 
a. Upon completion of the grant period of each grant, the recipient department 

must prepare a memorandum (*See Example F) to the Finance Department that 
identifies the name of the grant, the project number and describes the final 
disposition of the funds and required activities. 

b. Upon review of the memorandum and satisfaction of any discrepancies, the 
      Finance Department will update the accounting system and confirm grant 

closeout with the Grants Manager. 
c.   The grant closeout memo shall be placed in the grant's master file. 
 

Section VI Property and Equipment Acquired With Federal Grants: 
 

A.   Acquisition of Property and Equipment 
When purchasing and managing property paid for by Federal funds, it is expected good 
judgment will be used.  
B.   Screening 
Careful screening should take place before purchasing property/equipment to ensure that it 
is needed 

1.)  Take stock of current equipment to see if it meets identified needs. 
2.)  Establish a screening committee to make decisions about purchases. 
3.)  Utilize other effective management techniques as a basis for determining that the 

property/equipment is needed.  
4.)  Program monitors from the awarding agency ensure a screening process takes 

place and that the City has an effective system for property management. 
C.   Loss, Damage, or Theft of Equipment 



 

The City is responsible for replacing or repairing property which is willfully or negligently 
lost, stolen, damaged, or destroyed.  Investigate and fully document any loss, damage, or 
theft of the property and make the documentation part of the official project records. 
D.   Equipment Acquired With Federal Grant Funds for Criminal Justice Purposes: 
Equipment acquired with Federal award funds must follow the laws that are specific to the 
grant as well as ensure that the equipment is used for criminal justice purposes.  

1.)  The following standards and procedures govern ownership, use, management, and 
disposition of this type of equipment: 

a.  Title to equipment acquired under an award or sub-award will vest to the 
recipient organization the right of immediate or future legal ownership upon 
acquisition, subject to the obligations and conditions set forth in Title 2 Code 
of Federal Regulations (CFR) 6215.34. 

b.  Equipment must be used in the program or project for which it was acquired as 
long as needed, whether or not the project or program continues to be 
supported by Federal funds. When no longer needed for the original program 
or project, the equipment may be used in other activities currently or 
previously supported by a Federal agency. 

2.)  Equipment must be made available for use on other projects or programs currently 
or previously supported by the Federal Government, provided the use does not 
interfere with the work on the projects or programs for which it was originally 
acquired. First preference for other use should be given to other programs or projects 
supported by the awarding agency. User fees should be considered and treated as 
program income to the project, if appropriate. 
3.)  Aside from program income, equipment acquired with these funds should not be 
used to provide services for a fee or to compete unfairly with private companies that 
provide equivalent services, unless specifically permitted, or contemplated by Federal 
law. 
4.)  When acquiring replacement equipment, the equipment to be replaced may be 
used as a trade-in or may be sold and the proceeds used to offset the cost of the 
replacement equipment, subject to the written approval of the awarding agency. 
5.)  Equipment acquired in whole or in part with project funds (including 
replacements) must, at a minimum, meet the following requirements: 
6.)  Maintain property records which include all of the following information: 

a. Description of the property 
b. Serial number or other identification number 
c. Source of the property 
d. Identification of the title holder 
e. Acquisition date 
f. Cost of the property 
g. Percentage of Federal participation in the cost of the property 
h. Location of the property 
i. Use and condition of the property 
j. Disposition data, including the date of disposal and sale price 

7.) Take a physical inventory of the property and reconcile the results with the 
property records at least once every 2 years. 

8.) Loss, damage, or theft: 



 

a.  Have a control system in place with adequate safeguards to prevent these 
occurrences. 
b.  Promptly and properly investigate any loss, damage, or theft. 
c.  Establish and use adequate maintenance procedures to keep the property in 
good condition. 

9.) Dispose of the equipment when original or replacement equipment acquired is no 
longer needed for the original project.  Dispose of equipment acquired under the 
award when the equipment will be used for other activities currently or previously 
supported by a Federal agency. 

10.)  Adhere to the following rules in equipment disposition: 
a.  If the item to be disposed of has a current per-unit fair market value of less than 
$5,000, retain, sell, or otherwise dispose of it with no further obligation to the 
awarding agency. 
b.  If the item has a current per-unit fair market value of $5,000 or more,  retain 
and sell it, but the awarding agency will have a right to a specific dollar amount. 
Calculate this amount by multiplying the current market value or proceeds from 
the item sale by the awarding agency's share of the equipment. The seller is also 
eligible for sale costs. 

E.   Federal Equipment - When federally owned equipment is provided, the following 
requirements apply: 

1.)  Title remains vested in the Federal Government. 
2.)  Equipment must be managed in accordance with the awarding agency's rules and 
procedures and an annual inventory listing submitted. 
3.)  When the equipment is no longer needed, disposition instructions from the 
awarding agency must be requested. 

F.   Replacement of Property (Equipment and Nonexpendable Personal Property):  
When an item of property is no longer efficient or serviceable but the property continues 
to be needed in the criminal justice system, it may be replaced through trade-in or sale and 
subsequent purchase of new property. In this case, the following conditions must be met: 

1.) Replacement property must serve the same function as the original property and be 
of the same nature or character, although not necessarily of the same grade or quality. 
2.) Value credited for the property, if the property is traded in, must be related to its 
fair market value. 
3.) Purchase of replacement property must take place soon enough after the sale of the 
property to show that the sale and the purchase are related. 
4.) When acquiring replacement property, the property to be replaced may be used as 
a trade-in.  The proceeds from the sale of the property may be used to offset the cost of 
the new property. 

K.   Retention of Property Records:  Records for equipment, nonexpendable personal 
property, and real property must be retained for a period of 3 years from the date of 
disposition, replacement, or transfer at the discretion of the awarding agency. 

1.)  If any litigation, claim, or audit is started before the expiration of the 3-year 
period, records must be maintained until all litigations, claims, or audit findings 
involving the records have been resolved. 

 



 

L.
rec

 
Section 

 
A.
aw
an
B.

C.
Pr
Ac
fun
the
Th
the
A 
(w
ac
(w
Re
 

Section 

Grantee 
grant. 

   Supplies: 
cipient upon

1.)   The aw
unused sup

a. The
fair

b.   The
pro

2.)   Comp
personal pr

VII Feder

.  Federal G
warded, not r
nd Reinvestm
  Office of J

1.) Both fi
awardi
status o
objecti

2.) The Fe
and any
each aw

3.) The SF
System

4.) The qu
the last

.  American
ojects or act
ct of 2009 (“
nds provided
e public. 
he reports are
e recipient re
current regis

www.ccr.gov
tive.  A Dun

www.dnb.dom
egistration. 

VIII Defin
 

Departmen

 For supplie
n acquisition
warding age
pplies if both
e residual in
r market valu
e supplies ar

ojects. 
pute the comp
roperty or eq

ral Grant R

Grants: The r
related to the
ment Act, sha
Justice Prog
inancial and 
ing Federal A
of the funds 
ives, and pro
ederal Financ
y bills to be 
ward. 
F-425 must b
m (GMS) Fin
uarterly SF-4
t day of each

 Recovery a
tivities which
“Recovery A
d by this awa

e due not lat
eceives the a
stration mus

v) at all times
ns and Brads
m) is one of 

nitions:  G

nt:  The depa

es acquired u
.  

ency must be
h of the follo

nventory of u
ue upon term
re not needed

pensation am
quipment. 

Reporting

reporting req
e Office of Ju
all be follow
grams:  

program rep
Agency on a
or the projec

ovide other p
cial Reports
paid, both fo

be submitted
nancial Statu
425 must be 
h quarter. 

and Reinves
h are funded

Act”) must be
ard.  Inform

ter than ten c
assistance aw
st be maintai
s when feder
street Data U
the requirem

Grants\Gra

artment cond

under an awa

e compensate
owing apply
unused suppl
mination or c
d for any oth

mount in the

g Requirem

quirements f
ustice Progr

wed. 

ports must b
a quarterly ba
ct, compare 

pertinent info
(SF-425) sh

for the report

d online throu
us Reports M
submitted on

stment Act 
d under the A
e completed 
ation from th

calendar day
ward funded 
ined in the C
ral awards fu

Universal Nu
ments for reg

ant Proced

duction activ

ard, the title 

ed for its sha
: 
lies exceeds 
completion o
her federally

e same mann

ments 

for specific F
rams or the A

be completed
asis.  These 
actual accom

ormation.  
hould show t
ting period a

ugh the Gran
Module. 

nline no late

American Re
and a report
hese reports 

ys after each 
in whole or

Central Contr
unded with R

umbering Sys
gistration in 

dures 

vities and op

to the suppl

are of residu

$5,000 in to
of the fundin
y sponsored p

ner as for non

Federal Gran
American Re

d and submit
reports desc
mplishments

the actual fu
and cumulati

nts Managem

er than 30 da

ecovery and 
t on the use 
 will be mad

calendar qu
r in part by th
ractor Regist
Recovery Ac
stem (DUNS
the Central C

perations as s

De

lies vests in 

ual inventory

otal aggregat
ng support. 
programs or

nexpendable

nts 
ecovery 

tted to the 
cribe the 
s to 

unds spent 
ively for 

ment 

ays after 

Reinvestme
of Recovery

de available 

uarter in whic
he Recovery
tration 
ct Funds are 
S) Number 
Contractor 

specified in 

Grant 

efinitions 

the 

y of 

te 

r 

e 

ent 
y Act 
to 

ch 
y Act. 

the 



 

 
Cash Match:  Funds committed by the City for the grant’s activities. 
Chief Elected Official or Chief Executive Officer:  Mayor of the City of Statesboro. 
Chief Financial Officer:  Finance Director. 
Department Contact Person:  Individual within the department most familiar with the program 
Grant:  An activity or program funded by a source other than the City usually with State or 
Federal funds. 
Grant Period:  Year/Time period outlined in a grant award. 
In-Kind Match:  Funds or activities paid by the department that are not used as a match for 
another grant. 
Omnibus Report:  A report prepared by Finance staff for Council action.  This report combines 
budget amendments and transfers into one document. 
Project Time Line:  Beginning and Ending dates for project funded by a grant. 
Staff Report:  A report from a department head or elected official in standard format to be 
included on the agenda for a council meeting. 
Total Project:  Total cost of the project, should be the total of “Requested $” plus “Cash Match” 
plus “In-Kind.” 
 



1.  Work with the Grant Coordinator researching grant opportunities.

2.  Notify Finance Department of Grant Opportunity.

3.  Discussion with City Manager and Finance Director about Grant.

4.  Enter information into the Grant Management Database.

5.  Memo of Committal from City Manager

6.  Coordinate with Grant Administrator to organize rest of application process.

7.  Resolution requesting approval to apply from Mayor and Council.

8.  Apply for Grant.

9.  Resolution for permission to accept the Grant.

10.  Record property and equipment in Fixed Assets.

11.  Closeout Memo.

City of Statesboro

Grant Policy Checklist

EXAMPLE A



1 

 

 

City of Statesboro 

Memo 

To: Finance Department   

From: City Manager 

Date:  

Re: Commitment for “Name of Grant and Grant Number” 

Please accept this as notification that I, “Name”, have talked with “Name of Contact” from the “City 
Department” and approve for them to proceed with the grant application for “Grant Name” in the 
amount of “Amount” for “Project”.  Furthermore, I authorize match funding in the amount of “Amount” to 
be used to obtain “Grant Name”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXAMPLE B 



 

A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO APPLY FOR “NAME OF GRANT” 

FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

 

THAT WHEREAS, the “Awarding Agency” announce the availability of “Type of Grant 

Funds”, which may be utilized for the “Use of Grant Funds”; and   

 

WHEREAS, the “Awarding Agency” has stated that the City of Statesboro will be awarded 

“Amount of  Grant” with “Requirements”; 

 

WHERAS, this grant allows the expenditures of the grant funds over “Length of Grant” and 

is reimbursed to the funded agency. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 

Georgia in regular session assembled this “Date” hereby authorizes the application for the funds 

awarded by “Awarding Agency”. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the funding will be through the City of Statesboro “City 

Department” budget for expenditures from this reimbursable grant. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all 

documents related to the application of said grant. 

 

 

Adopted this”Date”. 

 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

By: Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

EXAMPLE C 

 



 

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT “NAME OF GRANT” FOR THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

 

THAT WHEREAS, on “Date” the City of Statesboro received  a “Amount of Grant and 

Name of Grant”,  “Grant Number”, funding “Percentage of Project”  of the projects anticipated total 

cost as per the attached documents also dated “Date”; and “Awarding Agency” announced the 

availability of “Type of Grant Funds”, which may be utilized for the “Use of Grant Funds”; and   

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 

Georgia in regular session assembled this “Date” hereby accepts the “Name of Grant”. 

 

Adopted this”Date”. 

 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

By: Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXAMPLE D 

 



Department

Department

Contact Grant Name

Grant

Number

Brief

Description

Application 

Deadline

Date 

Awarded

Amount 

Awarded End Date

Matching 

Amount

City of Statesboro 

Grants Management Database

EXAMPLE E

as of 8/9/2012



1 

 

 

City of Statesboro 

Memo 

To: Finance Department   

From:  

Date:  

Re: Close Out of “Name of Grant and Grant Number” 

Please accept this as notification that “Name of Grant” in the amount of “Amount” that was used for 
“project” has been closed out as of “date”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXAMPLE F 



RESOLUTION 2012-20: A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2013 BUDGET FOR EACH FUND OF THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA, APPROPRIATING THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN EACH 
BUDGET AS EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES, ADOPTING THE SEVERAL ITEMS OF 

REVENUE ANTICIPATIONS, AND PROHIBITING EXPENDITURES OR 
EXPENSES FROM EXCEEDING THE ACTUAL FUNDING APPROPRIATED 

 
 

 THAT WHEREAS, sound governmental operations require a Budget in order to 
plan the financing of services for the residents of the City of Statesboro; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title 36, Chapter 81, Article 1 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated (OCGA) requires a balanced Budget for the City's fiscal year, which runs from 
July 1st to June 30th of each year; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed First 
Amendment to the Budget from the City Manager that includes some revenues/financing 
sources and expenditures/expenses not anticipated in the original Budget, and carries 
forward funding and appropriations for some projects and equipment budgeted in the 
previous fiscal year, but not purchased by fiscal year-end; and 
 
 WHEREAS, each of these funds is a balanced budget, so that anticipated revenues 
and other financial resources for each fund equal the proposed expenditures or expenses 
and any transfers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this First Budget 
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2013; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the budget, attached hereto as 
Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are hereby adopted as 
the First Budget Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2013 Budget. 
 
 Section 2.  That the several items of revenues, other financial resources, and 
sources of cash shown in the budget amendment for each fund in the amounts shown 
anticipated are hereby adopted; and that the several amounts shown in the budget 
amendment for each fund as proposed expenditures or expenses, and uses of cash are 
hereby appropriated to the departments and agencies named in each fund, as amendments 
to the existing Budget previously adopted. 
 
 Section 3.  That the "legal level of control" as defined in OCGA 36-81-2 is set at 
the departmental level, meaning that the City Manager in his capacity as Budget Officer 
is authorized to move appropriations from one line item to another within a department, 
but under no circumstances may expenditures or expenses exceed the amount 



appropriated for a department without a further budget amendment approved by the 
Mayor and City Council. 
 
 Section 4.  That all appropriations shall lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
 Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 21st day of August, 2012. 
 
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

__________________________ 
By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

 
 
 

__________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 
 



ATTACHMENT #1 
 

FY 2013 FIRST BUDGET AMENDMENT 
 

100 General Fund:  
• Animal Control  

Increase Expenditures for Payment to Bulloch County by $4,716.      
• High Hope 

    Increase Expenditures for Services by $1,800 
• Arts Center 

Increase Expenditures for Arts Center by $4,946. 
• Economic Development   

Increase Expenditures for DSDA by $480. 
Decrease Expenditures for DSDA by $1,200 for interest earned on payment of 
building that has yet to be applied to loan. 

• Recreation 
                  Decrease Expenditures for Boys and Girls club by $10,742. 
Net effect on Fund is: None. 
 

210 Confiscated Assets Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None 
   

221 CDBG Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

224 US Department of Justice Grant 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

250 Multiple Grants Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

270 Statesboro Fire Service Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

275 Hotel/Motel Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

286 Technology Fee Fund: 
 

• No Changes. 



• Net effect on Fund is:   None. 
 

322 2007 SPLOST Fund: 
• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 

 
350 Capital Improvements Program Fund: 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

505 Water and Sewer Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None 
 

506 Reclaimed Water System Fund 
• No Changes. 
• Net effect on Fund is:  None  
•  

515 Natural Gas Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
  

541 Solid Waste Collection Fund:   
 

Commercial Division 
• No Changes. 

Residential Division 
• No Changes. 

Yardwaste Division 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

542 Solid Waste Disposal Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
601 Health Insurance Fund: 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is: None. 
 

602 Fleet Management Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

603 Workers Compensation Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 


	08-21-2012 Council Agenda 
	08-07-2012 council minutes  
	2012-05 OPEN RECORDS ORDINANCE
	3-alcohol Janetta IMG
	4- averitt arts IMG_0001
	5-McFarland IMG_0002
	2-Surplus August 2012
	10- Police Personnel
	2012-06 Alcohol Ordiance Amendment latest version
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and

	1-GDOT Agreement
	7- RZ 12-06-10 Staff Report_Amended
	8-RZ 12-07-01 Staff Report_AMENDED
	9-RZ 12-07-02 _Staff Report_AMENDED
	2012-19 Grant Policy Resolution unsigned
	12 The City of Statesboro Grant Policy
	2012-20 Resolution on Budget Amendment 1

